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I. STATEMENT  
1. On February 3, 2009, Mr. Barry Wolfman and Ms. M. Chris Wolfman (Complainants) filed a formal Complaint against Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc. (Lyons Towing or Respondent).  The filing commenced this docket.  

2. On February 13, 2009, the Commission issued its Order to Satisfy or Answer and that Order on Respondent.  On that same date, the Commission issued its Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing.  By Decision No. R09-0381-I, the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) vacated that hearing date.  

3. The Parties in this matter are Complainants and Respondent.  

4. The Commission assigned this docket to an ALJ.  

5. Based on review of the Commission's file in this matter that revealed that, as of March 12, 2009, Respondent had not filed an answer to the Complaint, the ALJ issued Decision No. R09-0263-I.  In that Order, and in accordance with the Order to Satisfy or Answer dated February 13, 2009, the ALJ found that allegations of the Complaint were admitted and ordered that the scheduled hearing would be held to address only the issue of remedies.  

6. On March 16, 2009, Respondent filed a Motion to Reconsider [Decision No. R09-0263-I] Finding Allegations of Complaint to Have Been Admitted.  Respondent's Response to Order to Satisfy or Answer (Answer) accompanied the motion.  By Decision No. R09-0354-I, as pertinent here, the ALJ granted the motion and vacated Decision No. R09-0263-I.  

7. The Answer disputed the Complaint and put the case at issue.  

8. By Decision No. R09-0510-I, the ALJ scheduled the hearing in this matter.  At the time and place scheduled, the ALJ called this matter for hearing.  

9. At the hearing, the ALJ heard the testimony of four witnesses.  Complainants sponsored the testimony of Mr. Barry Wolfman,
 who gave direct and rebuttal testimony.  Respondent sponsored the testimony of Messrs. Randy M. Lyons,
 Josh Lyons,
 and Richard LaPier.
  

10. Three exhibits were marked and offered.  Hearing Exhibit No. 1 was offered, was the subject of an objection, and was not admitted.  Hearing Exhibit No. 2, which is a copy of the Lyons Tow Security Record & Contract with respect to the tow at issue in this case, was offered by Respondent and admitted into evidence without objection.  Hearing Exhibit No. 3, which is a copy of the Complaint (without the attachment), was offered by Complainants and admitted into evidence without objection.  

11. At the conclusion of the hearing, the evidentiary record was closed.  Complainant and Respondent each made an oral closing statement.
  The ALJ took the matter under advisement.  

12. In accordance with, and pursuant to, § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the Administrative Law Judge transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits of the proceeding together with a written recommended decision.  

II. FINDINGS OF FACT  
13. With the exception of whether the Respondent, after advising the Complainants of the drop charge,
 afforded the Complainants a reasonable opportunity to pay the drop charge, the material facts are not in dispute.
  All evidence was in the context of a non-consensual tow.  
14. Complainants are two individuals.  They own a Volvo V40
 and were driving that vehicle on October 27, 2008.  

15. Respondent is a towing carrier, as that term is defined in § 40-13-101, C.R.S.  Respondent has been issued Permit PUC No. T-03483.  Section 40-13-104, C.R.S.  Respondent’s place of business and its impound lot are located at 4300 Elati, Denver, Colorado.  

16. The following are Respondent’s procedures and policies that are to be followed when Respondent is requested to conduct a non-consensual tow from private property and that were in effect on October 27, 2008:
  

a.
Upon arriving at the private property on which the vehicle is located, the tow truck driver must identify the vehicle to be towed and must fill in the vehicle information on the Lyons Towing Security Record & Contract (tow ticket).
  


b.
After filling in the vehicle information on the tow ticket, the tow truck driver must obtain the signature of the person authorizing the tow.  The authorization for the tow is the signature on the tow ticket.  

c.
After the signature of the authorizing individual is on the tow ticket, the vehicle is hooked up and towed to Respondent’s impound lot unless the owner of the vehicle is present and can produce the $64 drop charge in cash.  


d.
If the owner of a to-be-towed vehicle is present, the tow truck driver must inform the owner that, upon payment of the $64 drop charge in cash, the vehicle will not be towed.  The tow truck driver must provide the drop charge information at least once before towing the vehicle.  


e.
Lyons Towing has no policy with respect to the amount of time that must expire between the tow truck driver’s informing the owner of the drop charge option and the vehicle’s being towed to the impound lot.  The company policy is to leave the amount of time to the discretion of the tow truck driver.  


f.
If a vehicle is towed, when the vehicle arrives at the Lyons Towing impound lot, Lyons Towing personnel obtain the Vehicle Identification Number and contact the appropriate law enforcement personnel to determine whether the vehicle has been reported stolen.  The record contains no additional information about what Lyons Towing personnel may or must do when there is a non-consensual tow.
  

17. There is no evidence with respect to Lyons Towing’s policy concerning the steps, if any, that the tow truck driver must take to determine whether the person signing the tow ticket is authorized to request a non-consensual tow.  
18. There is no evidence with respect to Lyons Towing’s policy concerning when during the process of a non-consensual tow the tow truck driver must inform the vehicle owner of the $64 drop charge option.  For example, there was no evidence as to whether the Lyons Towing policy is to inform the vehicle owner of the $64 drop charge option when the owner first approaches the vehicle to be towed or at some other point in time during the towing process.  

19. On October 27, 2008, the Wolfmans’ daughter attended a concert at the Fillmore Auditorium in Denver, Colorado.  The Wolfmans intended to pick up their daughter after the concert and, while waiting for the concert to end, to eat at the Wendy’s Restaurant located at 867 East Colfax, Denver, Colorado.  This restaurant is located near (i.e., within one block of) the Fillmore Auditorium.  

20. Because their daughter must take medication on a regular schedule, the Wolfmans brought her medication with them.  The medication was in the Volvo’s console.  

21. Ms. M. Chris Wolfman, one of the Complainants, must take medication, either on a regular schedule or when in a stressful situation.
  The medication was in the Volvo’s console.  

22. Between 9:00 p.m. and 9:30 p.m. on October 27, 2008, the Wolfmans arrived at the Wendy’s Restaurant on East Colfax.  They pulled into the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot and were informed that it would cost them $20 to park.  Believing that the parking fee did not apply to those patronizing the Wendy’s Restaurant and intending to eat at the restaurant, the Wolfmans did not pay the requested parking fee.  

23. The Wolfmans did not know when the concert was scheduled to end.  To find out that information, they went to the Fillmore Auditorium.  

24. Before leaving the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot, Ms. Wolfman told the individual asking for the parking fee that the Wolfmans would be right back.  The Wolfmans did not go into the Wendy’s Restaurant and did not tell the parking lot attendant that they intended to patronize the restaurant.  

25. When they arrived at the Fillmore Auditorium, it took time for the Wolfmans to locate someone who could answer their question.  After talking with someone at the Fillmore Auditorium, the Wolfmans returned to the Wendy’s Restaurant.  

26. During the Wolfmans’ absence, an individual who said he was the parking attendant at the Wendy’s Restaurant contacted Respondent and asked Respondent to tow a vehicle.  Mr. LaPier took the call.  Mr. LaPier does not know the name of the parking attendant but recognizes him “by face.”  

27. There was no testimony that Mr. LaPier recognized the voice of the person who called and requested the tow as the voice of the parking attendant at the Wendy’s Restaurant.  There was no testimony that Mr. LaPier made any effort to determine the authority of the person on the telephone to request a tow from the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot.  

28. Following the call, Mr. LaPier dispatched tow truck driver Josh Lyons to the Wendy’s Restaurant.  

29. Josh Lyons was at the Respondent’s impound lot on Elati in Denver when he received the dispatch call.  He drove to the Wendy’s Restaurant, arriving approximately 10 minutes after being dispatched.  

30. When he arrived at the restaurant’s parking lot, the vehicle to be towed (i.e., the Volvo) was pointed out by a man who was in the parking lot.  Josh Lyons then filled out the vehicle information on the tow ticket (Hearing Exhibit No. 2).  

31. When the tow ticket was filled out, Mr. Josh Lyons gave it to someone.  Someone printed the name Ivan Flores on the portion of the tow ticket under the heading “Authorized By.”  Mr. Lyons did not know whether the person who was “authorizing” the tow was the manager of the Wendy’s Restaurant or someone else at the restaurant.  Mr. Lyons did not know Mr. Flores or his position or function at the Wendy’s Restaurant.  

32. Mr. Flores did not testify.  

33. The record is unclear with respect to whether Mr. Flores was the manager of the Wendy’s Restaurant and whether he was authorized to have vehicles towed from the parking lot.  The record also is unclear with respect to whether Mr. Flores signed the tow ticket.
  

34. The process of filling out, and obtaining a signature on, the tow ticket took no more than five minutes.  At that point, approximately 15 minutes had passed since Lyons Towing had received the call requesting that a vehicle be towed from the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot.  

35. After the tow ticket was signed, Josh Lyons backed the tow truck up to the back of the Volvo and began to prepare the vehicle to be towed.  The tow preparation process consisted of hooking the rear end of the Volvo to the tow truck, lifting the rear end of the vehicle, and using dollies to lift the front wheels off the ground.
  That entire process takes approximately ten minutes.  

36. When the Wolfmans returned to the Wendy’s Restaurant, they saw Respondent’s tow truck backed up to the Volvo and the tow truck driver working on the vehicle.  The rear end of the vehicle was hooked and lifted slightly by the time the Wolfmans arrived back at the parking lot.  What remained to be done was dollying the front end; this dollying process takes approximately five minutes.  

37. From the time they arrived back at the parking lot until the vehicle was towed away, the Wolfmans were present at the site of the tow.  

38. Mr. Wolfman’s testimony describing the events that transpired after the Wolfmans returned to the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot is not consistent with the testimony of Josh Lyons and Richard LaPier describing those events.  Each description is given below.  

39. The following is Barry Wolfman’s account.  

a.
After he identified himself as the owner of the Volvo, Mr. Wolfman asked the tow truck driver what could be done to prevent the tow.  Mr. Josh Lyons pointed to a Lyons Towing sign posted in the parking lot and said that the Wolfmans could pick up the vehicle at the address on the sign.  Mr. Wolfman asked a second time whether Mr. Lyons would not tow the Volvo if Mr. Wolfman paid some amount of money at the parking lot.  In response, Mr. Lyons repeated that the vehicle could be recovered at the address on the posted sign; he also said that it would cost $240 to recover the vehicle and that the payment had to be in cash.  


b.
When Mr. Wolfman asked a third time about paying something at the parking lot to prevent the tow, Mr. Josh Lyons pointed to the posted sign and said something to the effect of “call that number; if he tells me to let the car go, I will.”  Using his cell phone, Mr. Wolfman placed a call to the telephone number on the sign; was placed on hold, after the individual answering the telephone said “Lyons Towing” or words to that effect; and was disconnected before he could speak to anyone.  


c.
Using his cell phone, Mr. Wolfman immediately placed a second call to the telephone number on the posted sign.  When he had someone on the telephone,
 Mr. Wolfman said to that person that he was with the tow truck driver and requested that the person speak to the driver.  Mr. Wolfman handed the telephone to Mr. Lyons, who said that there was no one on the line and handed the cell phone back to Mr. Wolfman.  There was no additional conversation on the telephone.  


d.
During the two telephone calls, Mr. Josh Lyons continued to dolly the vehicle.  This required him to move from place to place around the vehicle.  In order to talk with him, Mr. Wolfman followed Mr. Lyons as he moved.  Mr. Wolfman generally stayed approximately four to five feet away from Mr. Lyons.  At some points during the tow preparation process, for unspecified periods of time, Mr. Wolfman was with his wife and was not near Mr. Lyons.  


e.
When the vehicle was ready to be towed and as he was ready to enter the tow truck cab to drive away with the Volvo, Mr. Lyons informed the Wolfmans of the $64 drop charge.  This was the first time Mr. Lyons mentioned the drop charge.  


f.
The Wolfmans had sufficient cash in Ms. Wolfman’s wallet to pay the $64 drop charge.  As a result of the stressful situation, however, Ms. Wolfman was in physical distress and looking for her medication to stave off a seizure.  The medication was not in her purse; it was in the vehicle.  As a result of being unable to take her medication, Ms. Wolfman was unable quickly to find her wallet in her purse in order to get the $64 to pay the drop charge.  When she did locate her wallet, she began to collect the necessary cash.  

g.
Mr. Wolfman told Mr. Lyons that they had the $64 in cash and that Ms. Wolfman had most of the cash together.  Mr. Lyons responded with words to the effect of “I don’t have all night.”  


h.
Mr. Wolfman also asked Mr. Lyons if he or his wife could retrieve the medications for Ms. Wolfman and for the Wolfmans’ daughter from the vehicle’s console before it was towed.  Mr. Lyons responded that he would drive away with the Volvo’s door open if they opened the car door.  


i.
Immediately after these brief exchanges and despite being told that the Wolfmans had $64 in cash on-hand and were in the process of producing it, Mr. Josh Lyons towed the Volvo to the Lyons Towing impound lot.  The Wolfmans recovered the vehicle that night after paying $240 in cash.  


j.
In Mr. Wolfman’s opinion, Mr. Josh Lyons did not offer the drop charge until the last possible time (i.e., after the hook-up was complete).  In addition, in Mr. Wolfman’s opinion, when the drop charge was offered, Josh Lyons did not give the Wolfmans a reasonable opportunity to produce the $64 in cash despite their assurances that they had the money.  Finally, Mr. Wolfman opined that the towing company has a financial incentive -- i.e., the $176 difference between the $64 drop charge and the $240 fee to recover the vehicle from the impound lot -- to discourage payment of the drop charge by making it difficult, if not impossible, to pay the drop charge once it was offered.  


k.
Mr. Wolfman would have paid the $64 drop charge if he had been given a reasonable chance to do so after being informed of the drop charge option.  He opined that any reasonable person in his circumstances (i.e., a person with the cash available to pay the drop charge, with a spouse and a daughter who needed access to the medications in the vehicle, and with the option to pay $64 in order to avoid paying $240), himself included, would have paid the drop charge if given a reasonable opportunity to do so.  

40. The following is Josh Lyons’s account.  

a.
When Mr. Lyons arrived at the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot, someone pointed out the vehicle to be towed.  Mr. Lyons did not know the individual or what his position or function was.  He filled out the vehicle information portion of the tow ticket and took it to be signed by the person who was authorizing the tow.  


b.
After the tow ticket was signed, Mr. Lyons backed the tow truck up to the rear end of the Volvo and hooked the rear end.  He had not yet begun to dolly the front wheels when Mr. Wolfman approached and identified himself as the owner of the vehicle.  Mr. Lyons immediately informed Mr. Wolfman that the vehicle would not be towed if Mr. Wolfman paid the $64 drop charge in cash.  Due to the weight of the dollies, Mr. Lyons would have preferred that the drop charge be paid so that he would not have to dolly the vehicle.  

c.
As he informed Mr. Wolfman of the drop charge, Mr. Lyons continued to prepare to tow the vehicle.  He got the dollies and put them on the front wheels.  Mr. Wolfman stood in front of Mr. Lyons, impeding his ability to dolly the wheels.  


d.
After he offered Mr. Wolfman the drop charge, Mr. Lyons had Mr. Wolfman make a telephone call to the Lyons Towing office and talk to the dispatcher (Mr. LaPier).  The reason for the telephone call was not explained.  

e.
Mr. Wolfman placed the call as requested, spoke to the dispatcher, and then asked Mr. Lyons to speak with the dispatcher.  Mr. Lyons informed the dispatcher that he had the vehicle loaded (i.e., hooked up), had offered the drop charge, and was unsure how to proceed.  Mr. LaPier (the dispatcher) told Mr. Lyons to offer the drop charge and to tow the vehicle if the drop charge was not paid.  Mr. Lyons then returned the telephone to Mr. Wolfman.
  


f.
During the telephone call, Mr. Lyons continued to offer the drop charge.  He also continued to dolly the front wheels and to complete the work necessary to tow the Volvo.  


g.
At the conclusion of the telephone call, Mr. Lyons lifted the vehicle to be sure it was secure.  He was then ready to leave with the Volvo.  He offered the drop charge one more time.  At about the same time, Mr. Wolfman opened one of the Volvo’s front doors and reached into the console.  When the Wolfmans did not produce the drop charge, Mr. Lyons towed the vehicle to the Lyons Towing impound lot.  While he was en route to the impound lot, Mr. Lyons called the dispatcher to inform him that Mr. Lyons was on the way to the impound lot with the vehicle.  


h.
Mr. Lyons was unsure about how long the Wolfmans were present before he towed the vehicle from the parking lot.
  


i.
Mr. Lyons advised the Wolfmans of the drop charge numerous times, perhaps as many as seven or eight times.  The Wolfmans did not respond any of the numerous times that he advised them of the drop charge.
  In addition, the Wolfmans did not indicate to him that they had the money and were willing to pay the drop charge.  Mr. Lyons’s impression was that the Wolfmans did not have the money to pay the drop charge.  Because he was under that impression and because the Wolfmans did not produce the drop charge in cash, he towed the vehicle.  

41. The following is Richard LaPier’s account.  

a.
Mr. LaPier was the dispatcher on duty on October 27, 2008.  When he is out of the office, telephone calls to Lyons Towing are forwarded to his cell phone.  He answers those forwarded calls and transacts business using his cell phone.  On October 27, 2008, although he was out of the office on a call, Mr. LaPier was the only person available to answer telephone calls placed to Lyons Towing during the period that is relevant to this case.  


b.
At all relevant times on October 27, 2008, Mr. LaPier was out of the office.  He was towing to a mechanic’s shop a vehicle that had broken down.  


c.
Mr. LaPier received a call from the Wendy’s Restaurant to tow a vehicle 

from the parking lot.  By telephone, he dispatched Mr. Lyons, who was at the Lyons Towing impound lot.  


d.
About 20 minutes after the dispatch, Mr. LaPier received a telephone call from Mr. Wolfman.  Mr. Wolfman said that his vehicle was hooked up to be towed.  When asked by Mr. LaPier, Mr. Wolfman said that the tow truck driver had told him about the $64 drop charge.  Mr. Wolfman asked Mr. LaPier what Mr. Wolfman needed to do, and Mr. LaPier responded that Mr. Wolfman needed to pay the drop charge or the car would be towed.  


e.
While he was talking with Mr. Wolfman, Mr. LaPier heard Mr. Josh Lyons in the background say “you need to pay $64” at three separate times.  In the background, Mr. LaPier also heard Ms. Wolfman “screaming” at Mr. Lyons.  At some point during the telephone call, Mr. LaPier spoke with Mr. Lyons and told him to tow the vehicle if the owner would not pay the drop charge.  


f.
Mr. LaPier estimated that the telephone call with Mr. Wolfman lasted approximately 10 minutes.  


g.
About five minutes after the end of the telephone conversation with Mr. Wolfman, Mr. LaPier received a call from Mr. Lyons saying that he was en route to the Lyons Towing impound lot with the Volvo.  


h.
Mr. La Pier was not present at the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot.  His involvement with the tow at issue consisted of the telephone call from the Wendy’s Restaurant, the telephone call from Mr. Wolfman, and the telephone call from Mr. Lyons.  

42. At the time of the tow, the Wolfmans had with them sufficient cash to pay the $64 drop charge.  
43. Additional findings of fact are contained in the following discussion.  
III. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION  
44. The Complainants, as proponents of an order, bear the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Section 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; § 24-4-205(7), C.R.S.; Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-1-1500.  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its non-existence.  Swain v. Colorado Department of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507 (Colo. App. 1985).  A party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole and however slightly, tips in favor of that party.  

45. To meet their burden of proof, Complainants must prove by a preponderance of the evidence all material allegations of the Complaint.  For the reasons discussed below, the ALJ finds and concludes that Complainants met that burden of proof.  

A. Pertinent Rules Governing Non-Consensual Tows.  

46. Section 40-13-107, C.R.S., states that the Commission has the duty to promulgate rules covering the operation of towing carriers.  As pertinent here, the Commission may prescribe rules governing the “circumstances under which a towing carrier may tow a motor vehicle without the express consent of the owner thereof” (§ 40-13-107(1)(d), C.R.S.) and may prescribe the “minimum and maximum rates and charges to be collected by towing carriers for the nonconsensual towing of motor vehicles for compensation” (§ 40-13-107(2), C.R.S.).  

47. To implement this statutory charge, the Commission promulgated the towing carrier rules found at Rules 4 CCR 723-6-6500 through 6599.  These are the rules that establish the standards that Lyons Towing must meet in its towing operations.  

48. The tow at issue in this proceeding occurred in October, 2008.  The towing carrier rules then in effect govern this case.
  

49. As pertinent here, Rule 4 CCR 723-1-6501(h) defines a non-consensual tow as “a tow authorized or directed by a person other than the [vehicle’s] owner, authorized operator, or authorized agent of the owner.”  
50. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(I), as relevant here, provides that  

(I)
A towing carrier shall not tow any motor vehicle unless one of the following conditions is met …

* * *  

(C)
The towing carrier is requested to perform a tow upon the authorization of the property owner.  

As pertinent to this case, Rule 4CCR 723-6-6501(k) defines “property owner” as  

(I)
the owner or lessee of the private property ... ; [or]  

(II)
a person who has been authorized in writing to act as agent for the owner or lessee of the private property[.]  

51. Pursuant to Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(II), the property owner authorization for a non-consensual tow must be in writing and must be signed by the property owner, as that term is defined in Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6501(k).  In addition, as relevant to this proceeding, the property owner authorization for a non-consensual tow must include the “make and license plate number ... [of] the motor vehicle to be towed; and shall include the date, time, and place of removal.”  Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(II).  The property owner’s written authorization may be incorporated into the tow record/invoice required by Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509.  

52. When a non-consensual tow is performed, Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509 requires the towing carrier to use and to complete all applicable portions of a tow record/invoice form.  The Rule mandates that the  

tow record/invoice shall contain the following information:  

(I)
the serial number of the tow record/invoice;  

(II)
the name, address, permit number, and telephone number of the towing carrier;  

(III)
the address of the storage facility used by the towing carrier, including the telephone number for that storage facility if the number is different than the telephone number of the towing carrier;  

(IV)
the date and time of tow commencement and completion, the time of arrival on the scene if different from the time of commencement, the time the towed motor vehicle is placed in storage, and all other times necessary for the purpose of calculation of hourly charges;  

(V)
the make, model, year, vehicle identification number, and, if available, the license plate number of the motor vehicle towed;  

(VI)
the origin address of the tow, the destination address of the tow, and the one-way mileage between such addresses;  

(VII)
the name, address, and telephone number of the person authorizing the tow;  

(VIII)
the signature of the property owner authorizing a tow;  

(IX)
if the towed motor vehicle is unlocked, a list of its contents;  

(X)
the unit number or license number of the towing vehicle;  

(XI)
the signature of the towing vehicle operator;  

(XII)
an itemized invoice of all towing charges assessed; and  

(XIII)
the signature of the owner, authorized operator, or other authorized person to whom the motor vehicle is released.  

53. As pertinent here, Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(c) provides that,  

[i]f a [non-consensual] tow is performed in violation of [Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508] …, the towing carrier shall not charge, collect, or retain any fees or charges for the unauthorized services it performs.  Any motor vehicle that is held in storage and that was towed without proper authorization shall be released immediately to the [vehicle’s] owner, lienholder, or agent of the owner or lienholder.  

54. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6511 addresses rates and charges for tows.  Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6511(b) governs the drop charge.  With respect to the drop charge, and as pertinent to this case, Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6511(b) provides:  

(I)
If the owner ... of a motor vehicle with a GVWR of less than 10,000 pounds that is parked without authorization of the property owner attempts to retrieve the motor vehicle before its removal from the property, the maximum drop charge (whether the vehicle is hooked up or not) is $64.00.  

(II)
In such circumstances, the towing carrier shall advise the owner ... of a motor vehicle that he or she may offer payment of the towing carrier’s drop charge.  

(III)
Release of the motor vehicle shall be in accordance with rule 6512.  

55. Pursuant to Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6512(a), and as relevant to this case,  

if payment of the drop charge ... is offered in cash ... , the towing carrier shall immediately accept payment and release the motor vehicle to:  

(I)
the motor vehicle owner[.]  

B. Authorization for Non-Consensual Tow.  

The tow that occurred on October 27, 2009 was a tow from private property not requested or authorized by the owner of the vehicle (i.e., the Wolfmans).  The tow at issue was a non-consensual tow, as defined in Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6501(h).  
56. A non-consensual tow requires written authorization from the property owner, as that term is defined in Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6501(k).  As the towing carrier that performed the non-consensual tow at issue, Lyons Towing’s defense to the Complaint necessarily includes, whether explicitly or implicitly, the assertion that the non-consensual tow of the Wolfmans’ vehicle was authorized.  

57. To establish that the non-consensual tow was authorized, Lyons Towing presented the testimony of Mr. Randy Lyons.
  Mr. Lyons testified that the manager of the Wendy’s Restaurant is the person who may authorize tows from the parking lot and testified that Mr. Flores’s name is on the tow ticket.  This is the extent of the evidence regarding authorization from the property owner.  

58. Randy Lyons’s testimony does not support a finding that the non-consensual tow at issue was authorized.  First, from his testimony, the ALJ cannot determine whether Mr. Lyons knows that Mr. Flores is the manager of the Wendy’s Restaurant or whether Mr. Lyons assumes that Mr. Flores is the manager because his name appears on the tow ticket.  Second, while he testified that Mr. Flores signed the tow ticket, Mr. Randy Lyons did not explain the basis for that statement (e.g., Mr. Lyons did not testify that he is familiar with Mr. Flores’s signature).  Third and importantly, Mr. Lyons did not testify that he knows that, in fact, Mr. Flores is an individual who is authorized in writing to authorize non-consensual tows from the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot.
  

59. As a result, the ALJ finds that the record does not support a finding that:  (a) Mr. Flores is the manager of the Wendy’s Restaurant; (b) Mr. Flores is authorized to authorize non-consensual tows from the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot; and (c) assuming that Mr. Flores is the manager and is authorized to authorize non-consensual tows from the parking lot (assumptions that the record does not support), Mr. Flores signed the tow ticket.  As a result, the ALJ finds that Lyons Towing did not establish that the tow at issue was authorized in accordance with Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(I).  

60. In addition, to be complete and to comply with Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(II), the property owner’s written authorization for a non-consensual tow must “include the date, time, and place of removal.”  (Emphasis supplied.)  As permitted by rule, Lyons Towing incorporated the property owner’s written authorization into the tow ticket, which is the tow record/invoice required by Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509.  The tow ticket for the non-consensual tow at issue does not include the time that the vehicle was towed.  Thus, even if Mr. Flores was authorized to authorize the non-consensual tow at issue (which Lyons Towing did not establish), the property owner’s written authorization for the non-consensual tow does not comply with the requirements of Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(II).  

Lyons Towing failed to establish that, with respect to the non-consensual tow at issue, it complied with Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(I).  Hearing Exhibit No. 2 establishes that, with respect to the non-consensual tow at issue, Lyons Towing did not comply with Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(II).  As a result, and pursuant to Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(c), Lyons Towing cannot retain any charges or fees for the unauthorized non-consensual tow of the Wolfmans’ Volvo that occurred on October 27, 2008.  

61. The ALJ finds for the Complainants.  As required by Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(c), Lyons Towing will be ordered to refund to the Wolfmans the $240 that they paid to Lyons Towing as a result of the tow that occurred on October 27, 2008.  

C. Drop Charge.  

62. The fact that the non-consensual tow of Complainants’ vehicle was not authorized is sufficient basis on which to find for the Complainants, and the ALJ need not reach any other issue.  Nonetheless, the ALJ will address the drop charge-related issue.
  

63. The fact that the tow truck driver informed the Wolfmans about the $64 drop charge is not in dispute.  In addition, the fact that the Complainants had in their possession the $64 drop charge in cash is not in dispute.  

64. Complainants’ position is that Respondent (through its tow truck driver) did not offer the drop charge in a reasonable manner and, thus, violated Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6511(b)(II).  Complainants assert that the tow truck driver did not tell them about the drop charge until he was ready to leave with the vehicle and that, after advising them of the drop charge, the tow truck driver did not give them a reasonable opportunity to pay the drop charge.  The Wolfmans argue that Lyons Towing had a financial incentive to give them neither reasonable notice of the drop charge nor a reasonable opportunity to pay the drop charge.  Mr. Wolfman states that, as a reasonable person, he would have paid the $64 drop charge (if he had been given a reasonable opportunity to do so) rather than pay the significantly higher towing charges (i.e., $240); suffer the inconvenience of having to retrieve the vehicle after it was towed; and leave his wife and daughter without their medications, which were in the vehicle.  

65. Respondent disputes Complainants’ claims.  First, Lyons Towing argues that the rule requires it to give one advisement regarding the drop charge and that it is undisputed that it gave the Wolfmans the required advisement.  Second, Lyons Towing argues that its tow truck driver told the Wolfmans about the drop charge several times, beginning with Mr. Wolfman’s first approach to the vehicle as the tow truck driver was preparing the Volvo to be towed.
  

66. Credibility of the witness and his testimony is critical to this proceeding in light of the direct and substantial contradicting testimony.  The ALJ weighed the credibility of each witness in light of the circumstances, the content of the testimony, and the witness’s demeanor.  

67. On balance, the ALJ finds that the testimony presented by Barry Wolfman is more credible than that presented by Josh Lyons and Richard LaPier.  For the reasons stated by Mr. Wolfman and set out above in the findings of fact, the ALJ finds persuasive Mr. Wolfman’s testimony that he would have paid the drop charge if he had been given a reasonable opportunity to do so.  Indeed, in light of the totality of the circumstances, the ALJ can discern no reason Mr. Wolfman would have failed or refused to pay the drop charge, if given a reasonable opportunity to do so.  

68. The ALJ finds the testimony of Mr. LaPier not credible.  There are significant discrepancies between the testimony of Mr. Josh Lyons and Mr. LaPier.  For example, concerning the length of the telephone call made by Mr. Wolfman to Lyons Towing, Mr. LaPier estimated that the call lasted ten minutes, and Mr. Lyons estimated a considerably shorter time period.  In addition, Mr. LaPier was towing a vehicle and was the only person responsible for answering the Lyons Towing telephone at the same time that he was on the telephone concerning the tow at issue.  The ALJ finds it difficult to credit the testimony that the conversation lasted ten minutes in view of those circumstances.  Further, the testimony about what Mr. LaPier heard in the background during his conversation with Mr. Wolfman is difficult to believe given that the statements credited to Josh Lyons lack context (i.e., none was made in response to a question) and were made to Mr. Wolfman while he was speaking with Mr. LaPier on the telephone.  

69. The ALJ did not give the testimony of Mr. Josh Lyons a great deal of weight.  He did not explain why he instructed Mr. Wolfman to place a telephone call to Lyons Towing.
  In addition, the ALJ finds it difficult to believe Mr. Lyons’s testimony that, despite having years of experience towing vehicles for Lyons Towing, he was unsure about how to proceed when faced with a situation in which the vehicle owner would not or could not pay the required drop charge in cash, a situation that he must have encountered many times prior to October 27, 2008.
  Finally, Mr. Lyons testified that Mr. Wolfman hampered Mr. Lyons as Mr. Lyons prepared the vehicle for towing.  The testimony, demeanor, and size of Mr. Josh Lyons as compared to those of Mr. Wolfman lead the ALJ to find that the testimony of Mr. Lyons regarding Mr. Wolfman’s efforts to impede the towing preparation process is not credible.  

70. For these reasons, where there was conflicting testimony about the events of October 27, 2008, the ALJ primarily relied upon Mr. Wolfman’s testimony.  

71. Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6511(b) establishes the maximum drop charge.  When Mr. Wolfman attempted to retrieve his vehicle before the Lyons Towing tow truck driver removed it, the two truck driver was required to advise Mr. Wolfman that he could pay the drop charge, as prescribed under Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6512(a).  There is no dispute that he gave the required advisement.  The dispute centers on whether the tow truck driver afforded Complainants a reasonable opportunity to pay the drop charge.  

72. Lyons Towing first argues that Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6511(b)(II) requires only one advisement; that the advisement was made; and that, the required advisement having been made, a finding in favor or Lyons Towing and dismissal of the Complaint are warranted.  The ALJ disagrees.  

73. The ALJ finds that, properly read, Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6511(b)(II) requires more than a bald advisement, hastily given at the last moment, followed closely by the vehicle’s being towed.  The ALJ finds that the Rule incorporates the notion that, once advised of the drop charge, the vehicle owner must be afforded a reasonable opportunity to pay the drop charge.  Admittedly, this is not explicitly stated in the Rule.  Nonetheless, the failure to afford the vehicle owner a reasonable opportunity to pay the drop charge renders the Rule meaningless and thwarts the Rule’s purpose of permitting the vehicle owner, upon paying the drop charge, to avoid having the vehicle towed.  The ALJ finds that the vehicle owner must be afforded a reasonable opportunity to produce the cash to pay the drop charge and finds that whether the tow truck driver afforded the vehicle owner a reasonable opportunity is determined on a case-by-case basis.  

74. Based on the evidence in this case, the ALJ finds that Respondent’s tow truck driver did not afford Complainants a reasonable opportunity to produce the cash to pay the drop charge.  The Wolfmans had the cash available to pay the drop charge.  Because Ms. Wolfman and the Wolfmans’ daughter needed medications that were in the vehicle, the Wolfmans were strongly motivated to pay the drop charge so that the vehicle would not be towed.  Even if the medications had not been an issue (which it was), the Wolfmans were motivated to pay the drop charge to avoid the inconvenience and expense of recovering the vehicle from the Lyons Towing impound lot.  The Wolfmans were ready, willing, and able to pay the drop charge.  The ALJ finds that, under the totality of the circumstances, the fact that the vehicle was towed from the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot establishes that the tow truck driver did not afford the Wolfmans a reasonable opportunity to produce the cash to pay the drop charge before he towed the vehicle to the Lyons Towing impound lot.
  

75. As a result of Lyons Towing’s failure to give the Wolfmans a reasonable opportunity to pay the drop charge, their vehicle was wrongfully towed.  Mr. Wolfman paid Lyons Towing $240 to recover the vehicle from the Lyons Towing impound lot.  

76. The record establishes, and the ALJ finds and concludes, that Complainants’ allegations that Lyons Towing failed to comply with the towing carrier rules have merit.  Complainants are entitled to relief in this case.  

D. Failure to Comply with Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509(a).  

77. The tow ticket is Hearing Exhibit No. 2.  The tow ticket is entitled Tow Security Record & Contract.  This is the tow record/invoice form for non-consensual tows that Lyons Towing uses to comply with Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509(a).  It is a form document that Lyons Towing provides to its tow truck drivers and that its tow truck drivers use when they perform non-consensual tows.  

78. As set out above, a tow record/invoice form for non-consensual tows must include specific information about each tow.  See Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509(a) (quoted above).  The tow ticket does not comply with the cited Rule.  Specifically, the tow ticket does not comply with the following six provisions of Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509(a):  6509(a)(IV) (the required times are missing); 6509(a)(VI) (the required one-way mileage is missing); 6509(a)(VII) (the required address and telephone number are missing); 6509(a)(IX) (the required list of the contents of the unlocked towed vehicle is missing); 6509(a)(X) (the required unit number or license number of the towing vehicle is missing); and 6509(a)(XI) (signature of the towing vehicle operator is missing).  

79. In some instances, the tow ticket has a place to put the required information.  The failure to complete the form is unexplained.  It appears to be the result of a failure in the implementation of the Lyons Towing’s policies and practices.  
80. In most instances, however, there is no place on the form to put the required information.  This is the result of Lyons Towing’s failure to use a form that meets with requirements of the Rule.  

81. The Complaint does not allege that the tow ticket does not comply with the towing carrier rules.  The ALJ, however, cannot disregard a rule violation that is proven in the record.  Thus, the ALJ finds and concludes that the tow ticket (Hearing Exhibit No. 2) does not contain the information required by Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509(a) and, thus, fails to comply with that Rule.  The Respondent should be ordered to address these failures to comply with the Rule.  
E. Relief.  

82. Complainants paid $240 to retrieve their vehicle from Lyons Towing on October 27, 2008.  On that date they also incurred ATM fees to obtain $240 in cash and incurred taxicab fare to travel to the Lyons Towing impound lot to retrieve their vehicle.  They seek to recover $176 (the difference between the $240 paid at the impound lot and the $64 drop charge) and their ATM and taxicab expenses.  

83. The Commission does not have jurisdiction to award the requested ATM and taxicab expenses because the Commission cannot award damages.  As a result, the Commission cannot grant the request to allow Complainants to recover their ATM and taxicab expenses.
  Thus, the recovery in this matter is limited to a maximum of $240.  

84. With respect to the amount of money that Complainants should recover, the ALJ finds that they should recover $240.  The October 27, 2008 non-consensual tow from the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot was not authorized.  Pursuant to Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(c), Respondent may not retain any fees or charges arising from or that result from an unauthorized non-consensual tow.  Respondent should be ordered to refund, by a certified check or by a cashier’s check, to the Complainants the $240 that they paid to Respondent as a result of the unauthorized non-consensual tow.
  Respondent should be ordered to pay the $240 refund by a date that is not later than ten days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission.  

85. With respect to the Lyons Towing Tow Security Record & Contract form, Lyons Towing should be ordered to replace its Tow Security Record & Contract form with a tow record/invoice form that complies with Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509(a).  Lyons Towing should be ordered to have the Rule-compliant tow record/invoice form in use not later than 30 days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission.  

With respect to the policies and practices of Lyons Towing vis-à-vis completing 

86. the tow record/invoice form, Lyons Towing should be ordered to develop and to implement policies and practices that require its personnel to complete the tow record/invoice form as required by, and to include the information required by, Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6509(a) for each non-consensual tow.  Lyons Towing should be ordered to have these policies and practices in place not later than 30 days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission.  

87. With respect to the policies and practices of Lyons Towing vis-à-vis completing the tow record/invoice form, Lyons Towing should be ordered to develop and to implement control and oversight policies and practices that assure that its personnel complete the tow record/invoice form for each non-consensual tow.  Lyons Towing should be ordered to have these policies and practices in place not later than 30 days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission.  

IV. CONCLUSION  
88. The Commission has subject matter jurisdiction in this proceeding and in personam jurisdiction over the Complainants and Respondent.  

89. Based on the evidence and findings, Complainants have met their burden of proof.  Based on the evidence and findings, the Commission should find in their favor and order relief.  

90. Based on the evidence and findings, the Commission should order the relief described above.  

91. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the Administrative Law Judge recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  

V. ORDER  
A. The Commission Orders That:  
1. The Complaint by Barry Wolfman and M. Chris Wolfman against Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc., filed February 3, 2009, is granted.  

2. Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc., shall not charge for, and shall not retain any fees or charges arising from, the unauthorized non-consensual tow of the Wolfmans’ vehicle that occurred on October 27, 2008.  

3. Not later than 10 days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission, Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc., shall pay $240 to Complainants Barry Wolfman and M. Chris Wolfman.  Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc., shall make the $240 payment by a certified check or by a cashier’s check.  

4. Not later than 30 days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission, Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc., shall have in use a tow record/invoice form that complies with Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-6-6509(a).  

5. Not later than 30 days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission, Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc., shall have in place policies and practices that require its personnel to complete the tow record/invoice form as required by, and to include the information required by, Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-6-6509(a) for each non-consensual tow.  

6. Not later than 30 days after the date on which this Recommended Decision becomes the Decision of the Commission, Lyons Towing and Recovery, Inc., shall have in place control and oversight policies and practices that assure that its personnel complete the tow record/invoice form for each non-consensual tow as required by, Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-6-6509(a).  

7. A copy of this Decision shall be provided to the Safety and Enforcement Unit of the Commission’s Transportation Staff for its information and use.  

8. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

9. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  

10. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.  
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�  Mr. Wolfman is a Complainant.  Ms. Wolfman, the other Complainant, did not appear at the hearing.  


�  Mr. Randy Lyons is the owner and president of Lyons Towing.  He has been in the towing business for approximately 20 years and has been in business for himself approximately 7 years  


�  Mr. John Lyons was the tow truck driver who conducted the tow that is the basis of the Complaint.  Mr. John Lyons is the son of Mr. Randy Lyons, has been a tow truck driver employed by Respondent for a period of two and one-half years, and has worked as a tow truck driver only for Respondent.  


�  Mr. Richard LaPier is the manager of, dispatcher for, and a tow truck driver for Lyons Towing.  Mr. LaPier has held all three positions with Respondent for over three years.  


�  The closing statements are not evidence in this proceeding.  


�  The drop charge is the amount of money, set by Commission rule, that a towing carrier may charge if a motor vehicle is retrieved before it is removed in a non-consensual tow.  Rule 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6-6511(b).  At the time of the tow in question, the Commission-established drop charge was $64.  


�  The Parties have a dispute about the point in time at which the tow truck driver advised the Complainants of the drop fee.  This is tied directly to the larger question of whether the driver advised the Complainants of the drop fee and then gave them a reasonable opportunity to proffer the drop fee in cash.  


�  The record does not contain the Gross Vehicle Weight Rating (GVWR), as defined in Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6001(y), of this motor vehicle.  Given the type of equipment used to tow the motor vehicle and the fact that Respondent’s tow truck driver offered a drop fee, the reasonable inference to be drawn is that the vehicle had a GVWR of less than 10,000 pounds.  


�  Mr. Randy Lyons provided the details about these procedures and policies.  


�  The tow ticket for the tow at issue is Hearing Exhibit No. 2.  


�  In his oral closing statement, counsel for Lyons Towing made representations about what Lyons Towing does as the result of a non-consensual tow.  Some of the representations go beyond the findings in this Decision and the record; these representations are not evidence.  The ALJ did not rely on those representations.  


�  The record was unclear which pertains.  


�  Mr. Randy Lyons, who was not present at the time of the tow at issue, gave the only testimony about the procedures to be used by Respondent’s employees when there is a non-consensual tow from the Wendy’s Restaurant.  In addition, his is the only testimony addressing Mr. Flores’s name on the tow ticket.  The issue of whether the tow at issue was authorized is discussed infra.  


�  The dollies have bars and wheels and are heavy.  


�  The person was not identified.  


�  The telephone call had ended when Mr. Lyons returned the cell phone to Mr. Wolfman.  There was no evidence of any additional conversation with Mr. LaPier during that telephone call.  


�  At one point in his testimony, Mr. Lyons estimated that the Wolfmans arrived 10 minutes before he left with the vehicle.  At another point in his testimony, he estimated that they arrived five minutes before he left with the vehicle.  


�  Mr. Lyons testified that, each time he informed Mr. Wolfman of the drop charge, Mr. Wolfman’s only response was words to the effect “whoa, that’s my car.”  


�  Complainants are the proponents because they commenced this proceeding and seek an order for relief from the Commission.  


�  These towing carrier rules were in effect from August 1, 2007 until July 29, 2009.  The Commission promulgated new towing carrier rules that became effective on July 30, 2009.  The language of the pertinent rules in the August, 2007 to July 29, 2009 version of the towing carrier rules is the same as the language of the pertinent rules in the towing carrier rules now in effect.  Thus, as relevant here, the standards are the same.  


�  Josh Lyons, the tow truck driver, did not know the manager of the Wendy’s Restaurant; did not know Mr. Flores; and did not know who signed the tow ticket.  His testimony does not address the issue of authorization.  


�  Assuming arguendo that the printed name is Mr. Flores’s signature, Mr. Flores’s signature on the tow ticket is insufficient, standing alone, to establish that he is an individual properly authorized to authorize non-consensual tows.  Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6508(b)(I) requires a towing carrier to know, at the time of the non-consensual tow, that the individual who authorizes the non-consensual tow is a property owner, as that term is defined in Rule 4 CCR 723-6-6501(k).  There is no evidence in this case that, at the time of the non-consensual tow of the Wolfmans’ vehicle, Lyons Towing knew that Mr. Flores was such an individual.  


�  The ALJ addresses the drop charge-related issue to inform the Commission of her decision with respect to the drop charge should the Commission reach a different conclusion on the issue of whether the non-consensual tow at issue was authorized.  


�  In his closing argument, Respondent’s counsel also argued that Lyons Towing had no financial incentive to perform the non-consensual tow because there are significant expenses and costs associated with the paperwork and reporting that follows such a tow.  Because there is no record support for this argument, the ALJ disregarded it.  


�  The call to Lyons Towing is the avenue by which Mr. LaPier was able to testify about speaking to Mr. Wolfman and about what Mr. LaPier heard in the background during that conversation.  It is difficult to credit that, given the circumstances at the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot, this conversation took place if the reason for placing the telephone call is unexplained.  


�  Not only did Mr. Lyons have years of experience, but Lyons Towing has procedures and policies in place with respect to the drop charge.  These factors make it unlikely that Mr. Lyons would be unsure about how to proceed.  


�  In arriving at this finding, the ALJ credits Mr. Wolfman’s testimony that the tow truck driver made only one advisement and that the advisement was made almost immediately before the vehicle was removed from the Wendy’s Restaurant parking lot.  


�  Complainants provided no information with respect to the amount of the ATM fees or the amount of the taxicab fare.  As a result, even if the Commission had jurisdiction (which it does not), there is no record on which to determine the amount of the expenses that Complainants seek to recover.  


�  This is true notwithstanding Mr. Wolfman’s repeated statements that he is willing to pay the $64 drop charge.  The Rule language is mandatory and precludes Lyons Towing from retaining any fee or charge related to the unauthorized non-consensual tow.  
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